IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-182

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 271543 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Bay County on March 26, 1992 charged Roderick Orme with one count of first-degree murder, one count of robbery, and one count of sexual battery (1 R 3-4). He was eventually found guilty of those charges. By a vote of 7-5, the jury recommended the court sentence him to death (4 R 629), which it did (4 R 736-44, 746-49). It imposed a 15-year sentence for the robbery, and a 22-year sentence for the sexual battery. The robbery and sexual battery sentences were to run consecutively to the death sentence but concurrently with each other (4 R 743-44).

On appeal this Court affirmed the trial court's judgments and sentences. <u>Orme v. State</u>, 677 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1996). Subsequently, Orme filed a motion for post-conviction relief under Rule 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P., which the trial court, after holding an evidentiary hearing, denied. By way of a petition for a writ of habeas corpus he also alleged appellate counsel was ineffective. This court denied the habeas corpus petition, but it granted him relief on his motion for post conviction relief. <u>Orme v State</u>, 896 So.2d 725 (Fla. 2005). Specifically, it found the trial lawyer ineffective because "counsel's decision to conduct no further investigation of Orme's bipolar diagnosis and subsequent decision to forego presenting this defense amounted to deficient performance." <u>Id</u>. at 735. It found this ineffectiveness would have had no impact on the guilty verdict, but it did

undermine this Court's confidence in the death recommendation, so it granted Orme a new penalty phase proceeding. <u>Id</u>. at 736.

Upon remand, the trial court appointed two lawyers, Russell Ramey and Michel Stone, to represent Orme (12 R 2128, 2250). George Schulz of the Holland and Knight Law firm filed a notice of appearance, but after determining that he had not met the death penalty qualifications of Rule 3.112, Fla. R. Crim. P., the court refused to let him represent Orme. It did allow him and Ms. Sarah Butters, another attorney from Holland and Knight, to appear pro bono (21 R 3134).

The State and defense then filed the following motions relevant to this appeal:

1. Motion for appointment of Expert. (12 R 2136-37). Granted (26 R 3259-60).

2. Motion to allow State expert to examine defendant (12 R 2139). Granted (12 R 2142).

 Defendant's ex parte motion for additional expert assistance (13 R 2252-55). Granted.

4. Defendant's motion for retainers for defense experts (13 R 2290-92).Granted. (13 R 2301).

5. Motion to preclude imposition of the death penalty (15 R 2657-65).Denied. (39 R 3548)

6. Motion for interrogatory penalty phase verdict (15 R 2666-70). Denied (39 R 3556).

7. Motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(f), Florida Statutes, unconstitutional as written and applied (15 R 2673-77). Denied (39 R 3565).

Motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes,
 unconstitutional as written and applied (15 R 2673-77). Denied (39 R 3565).

9. Motion for findings of fact by the jury (15 R 2693-95). Denied (39 R 3556).

10. Motion to preclude the death penalty because the lapse of time has created a heightened standard of persuasion on the defendant to obtain a life sentence and because the 15-year delay in sentencing constitutes cruel and unusual punishment (16 R 2838-2840). Denied (42 R 3681).

11. Motion to preclude argument that a life sentence does not mean life (16R 2841-42). Granted (42 R 3686).

12. Motion for a unanimous jury sentencing recommendation (16 R 2843-46). Denied (42 R 3706).

13. Motion to include life without eligibility for parole on the verdict form (16 R 2881-83). Denied (43 R 3752).

Orme proceeded to the penalty phase hearing before Judge Judy Pittman.¹ The jury, after it had heard the evidence, argument, and instructions on the law, recommended by a vote of 11-1 that she impose a death sentence (17 R 2946). The court later conducted the hearing mandated by this Court in <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993), and at a subsequent hearing, it sentenced Orme to death (17 R 3008-3019). Justifying that sentence, it found in aggravation:

1. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.

2. The murder was committed was committed during a sexual battery

3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

(17 R 3009-3012)

In mitigation, it found:

1. The defendant has no significant criminal history. Little weight

2. The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotion disturbance. Little weight.

3. The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to confirm his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Little weight.

The court gave no weight to the following mitigation:

1. The age of the defendant.

¹ She was the original trial judge.

2. A bipolar disorder contributed significantly to the defendant's substance abuse.

3. The defendant had a difficult childhood.

4. The defendant is a model prisoner.

5. The defendant's potential for rehabilitation.

6. The defendant tried to get the victim help.

(17 R 3013-17).

The court also found a death sentence proportionally justified and any one of the aggravating factors, by themselves, would outweigh all the mitigation, and justify a death sentence (17 R 3018).

The court also denied Orme's motion for a new trial (17 R 3021-24, 3041).

This appeal follows.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The murder of Lisa Redd

About 8 o'clock in the morning of March 4, 1992 Jim Zahn was working as an alcohol and drug abuse counselor at the Chemical Addiction Recovery Effort and Reliance House in Panama City when he saw Mike Orme standing in one of the office's doorways (52 R 51-52). Zahn had had contact with him before and knew that he suffered from chronic cocaine abuse, having begun using alcohol when he was 16, marijuana at 18, and cocaine at 21 (52 R 57, 60). It was obvious that morning that his efforts to shake his cocaine habit had failed. Zahn spoke to Orme, but he would not respond or speak (52 R 52, 56). After he and another counselor unsuccessfully tried to talk with his former patient (52 R 56), Orme got a pen and paper and wrote something on it Zahn could not understand. Maybe it was a room (52 R 53). He wrote L-E-E or "something" and Zahn asked if it was "Lee's" and "Room 15" and "Motel" to which Orme only nodded his head (52 R 53).

The police were called, and when they arrived, he had oxygen hooked up and a needle in his arm (53 R 143). They did not see any scratches or bruises on him (53 R 189), but one of the attending nurses noted some superficial scratch marks on his right forearm (52 R 70, 74). When his sister in law saw him the next day, she observed that "Mike was not Mike. He was red faced, his eyes were big. It was very disturbing. He was hallucinating. . . He was seeing things that weren't

there... He was in distress."² (57 R 712) His step mother noted that "He could hardly talk. . . And just in generally bad shape." (58 R 746)

Someone called the owner of Lee's Motel, and he went to room 15, knocked on the door to that room, and when he got no response he opened it. He saw a female body lying on the floor (52 R 100). He backed out, locked the door, and called the police. When they arrived they found the body of Lisa Redd (53 R 142)

She had several bruises on her face, neck, hands, arms, and to "some extent" on her legs (56 R 464-67). She had some damage to a kidney, indicating that she had received a hard blow to her abdomen (56 R 471). She also had some abrasions on the rectum lining (56 R 474-75), but none to her vagina or mouth (57 R 611). She had injuries to her neck consistent with having been strangled from the front and back, although the strangulation could have come from only one direction (56 R 482-84, 513). The cause of death was strangulation (56 R 492).

A gold necklace she "always wore," some rings, a watch and other jewelry were missing and never found (54 R 275-76). Her purse and credit cards, similarly, were never located, but no one ever used the credit cards after the murder (54 R 276-77).

 $^{^{2}}$ An attending nurse also noted that he was hallucinating (58 R 754). In addition, she recognized the symptoms in Orme of cocaine use (58 R 751).

2. Orme's and Redd's relationship

Orme had met Lisa Redd in 1980 but had lost track of her during the intervening years (53 R 1560). He ran into her in 1991, and within a short while they had developed a serious, romantic relationship (53 R 156-57). She had recently divorced her husband although she thought that may have been a mistake and she wanted to try to "work things out with him." (54 R 267) Nonetheless, during 1991 and 1992, Orme and Redd had an "off and on" affair (58 R 733).

Sometime before March he had surgery for a problem associated with his rectum (58 R 732, 61 R 1151), and naturally had medication for the pain (60 R 939).

In the afternoon of March 3, he drove to and checked into Lee's Motel about 3 p.m. (52 R 90). Over the course of the afternoon and into the evening, he came and went several times by taxi and in a white car (52 R 93-95).³ During this time, the defendant was looking for "dope," and in the next several hours he smoked about five hundred dollars of crack cocaine (52 R 110, 53 R 163).⁴ He also had sex with a prostitute (53 R 166). Actually, he may have had sex with more than one woman but he could not recall if he had (53 R 169). At some point he had almost spent all his money because when he wanted to hire another cab he

 $^{^{3}}$ He drove a Chevrolet pickup truck to the motel when he checked in (52 R 90).

⁴ His parents had given him \$400 shortly before Lisa's death (58 R 745).

had only two dollars for the fare. When he offered the driver his passport as collateral the latter refused (52 R 119).

During this time and into the evening, Orme had been drinking beer, perhaps "a little too much," taken some "downers," as well as smoking crack (53 R 160). He felt bad, so he called Lisa, who was a nurse, to stop by the motel room on her way to work to look at him (53 R 160). When she arrived and discovered he had been using cocaine, she became angry, slapped the crack pipe from his hand and threw some cocaine chips into the toilet (53 R 162). She apparently thought he was sick enough that she intended to call an ambulance (53 R 162). Instead, he got into her car and "hauled ass." (53 R 162) After that, he had a blackout because at some point he returned to the room, but he did not remember if Lisa was still there by herself until the last time when "I found her sprawled down." (53 R 167) When he saw her body he knew something was wrong because it was cold and one of her legs stiff (53 R 168). Knowing that he was "fucked up" and afraid to admit that Lisa might be dead, he may have tried to dress her and take her with him, but he did not remember "a whole lot." (53 R 171) He grabbed her purse and left, driving her car (53 R 164). He may have returned several times during the remainder of the evening, but that, like everything else, was fuzzy (53 R 174). He recalled the last time he came to the room because the sky was turning gray (53 R 167). He then drove around some more, and the next thing he knew he was at the

drug rehab center, seeking help for Redd (53 R 167). He did not remember having sex with Lisa (53 R 170).

3. Orme's drug and mental problems.

Linda Henley married Roger Orme in 1958 when she was 15, and he was 19 and in the Navy (59 R 811). From the start, he was very verbally abusive and domineering, and during their stormy marriage they broke up and got back together several times (59 R 811). Michael Orme was born in 1961, and his mother and father finally divorced in 1963 (59 R 814). Roger had custody of his son with the understanding that Roger's mother would keep the child, and Linda would have visitation rights on the weekend (59 R 815).

After the divorce, Roger would become angry with his son and scream at him if he showed too much affection to his mother (59 R 816), who eventually kidnapped him when she learned that her former husband intended to move out of state, taking Orme with him (59 R 816). Six months later his father came to his school and took his son out of class, punching the school teacher in the mouth when she tried to stop him (59 R 818). Linda did not see her son for 10 years or until he was 18, and she did so only because she had spent time and money trying to find him, which she eventually did (59 R 820). Explaining her absence, his father told him that his mother did not love him and had sold him for a car (59 R

822). Those experiences sucked the life and self esteem out of the child (59 R
819).⁵

Orme's father, who was diagnosed with depression and anxiety (58 R 737), was a tyrant, bully, and domineering (59 R 812-16). He told his son that he was worthless, no good, and just like his mother (59 R 823). As his former wife said, "he had a violent, vile temper And he screamed at Michael, get in the house, and Michael trembled and shook and started to cry and he went in the house." (59 R 818)

Orme seemed to be a normal child, but by the time he was in fifth grade "he really went down the tubes." (58 R 722). At times he was depressed, while on other occasions he had plans but never seemed to follow up on them. "He would want to rebuild a bicycle or something like that. . . [but] he would never do anything with it." (58 R 722). He seemed to flit between depression and giddiness (58 R 762), and his mother noted that he would go "from being very happy and proud and pleased with himself to being so depressed that he didn't want to do anything." (59 R 829-30). Then as a teenager, he began using alcohol and drugs (58 R 723).

When he was 18 or 19 he had joined a fraternity associated with the local community college in Panama City, and he was either very upbeat or "very

⁵ Roger Orme remarried, and his new wife was very loving with her step son (57 R 702).

depressed and down. It seemed like he was either one or the other." (57 R 688). The fraternity had weekly parties that included drinking and drugs, including marijuana, speed, and Quaaludes (57 R 690). Orme drank and took the drugs, but he apparently may not have begun using cocaine until the 1980s, but when he did drugs he either binged or "not at all." (57 R 691).

As his use of drugs increased, he overdosed, not once but several times, and some of these required him to go to the local hospital's emergency room (57 R 694). One prolonged incident epitomized Orme's life as a young man. At some point he decided to join the United States Marine Corps reserves, but about two weeks before he reported to basic training, "he went on a terrible binge. . . He just disappeared absolutely disappeared. We didn't even see him for about two weeks before he left." (58 R 726) Nonetheless, he returned home and then went into the Marines. When he returned from basic training, he was very proud of himself and looked good (57 R 727). Yet when it came time to go to his first drill as a Marine Corps reservist, he got to the building but could not get out of the car and report for duty (59 R 831).

3. The evidence of the bipolar mood disorder.

At the resentencing hearing, Orme called two mental health experts who had examined and diagnosed the defendant. The State also called experts who had somewhat different views of the defendant's mental condition.

Dr. Michael Maher, a psychiatrist, and Dr. Michael Herkov, a psychologist, testified for the defense, and both concluded that Orme suffered from a bipolar mood disorder where "he becomes depressed and has other times where he becomes unrealistically or unnaturally energized and sometimes positive, sometimes irritable" (56 R 539). They also diagnosed him, as did all the experts, both state and defense, as a polysubstance abuser (56 R 539, 894, 60 R 1013, 61 R 1121). "He had a pattern of binge use where he would work pretty successfully and apparently without a lot of alcohol or dug intoxication while at sea. That is, he had periods where he "seems to have pulled himself together . . . and done something positive." (56 R 550) And then he came in and went on a binge of particularly rock cocaine." (56 R 542). This "incredibly powerful force" significantly impaired his behavior. It was an acute intoxication, an extreme emotional or mental disturbance (56 R 548).

And possibly for the first couple of hours they can keep smoking cocaine and feel, in not good, at least excited and energized in a sort of positive way. After that first hour or two there is a pattern of trying to recreate that high which can never be accomplished. And as that continues they become more agitated, more irritable, less logical, less able to coherently understand their surroundings, less able to make good judgments, they do incredibly stupid thins like buying cocaine right in front of a police officer. All kinds of absurd behavior occurs when you get into the mid and the late stages of a cocaine binge, which might occur in a few hours or might occur in a longer period than that.

(56 R 547)

Supporting the bipolar diagnosis, Dr. Maher also said that Orme was a "moody kid and young man would go through periods of excitability and periods of depression. That's a very strong indicator of a mood disorder in later adolescence or early adulthood." $(56 \text{ R} 542)^6$ The polysubstance abuse diagnosis fit well with the bipolar disorder because bipolar persons "have a tendency to use ... alcohol, marijuana, other drugs to try to change their mind, to change the way they're thinking and feeling." (56 R 543) Not surprisingly, this self medication only made a bad situation worse (56 R 549). Blackouts, or periods in which the person "would seem to be alert, but in fact, their memory is no longer recording events," were typical during periods of acute intoxication (56 R 546).

Thus, for Dr. Maher there was "no question in my mind that he was suffering from both disorders" and that he had deteriorated to a stage of serious impairment by the time of the murder (56 R 548, 592).

Dr. Herkov echoed Dr. Maher's diagnosis for many of the same reasons. He had talked with Orme's family, which had observed his mood swings for a "major portion" of his life (59 R 90). He noted that "professionals both within and outside the Florida Department of Corrections" had seen the symptoms of bipolar disorder, and that was significant to him (60 R 923-24). This expert also noticed that bipolar

⁶ Dr. Maher maintained his conviction that Orme suffered from a bipolar disorder even though he acknowledged that five prison doctors had seen him between May 1993 and March 1995 and never diagnosed him as bipolar (56 R 584-85). Similarly, before going to prison no expert diagnosed him as such (56 R 585).

disorders ran in both sides of Orme's family, and because of that he had a significantly greater likelihood of being afflicted with it (59 R 900-901, 60 922). He said that a person with this mental disability often could live for months or years without having a bipolar episode (60 R 984), but for Orme, his cocaine addiction complicated the picture. He used the drug to self medicate his depression, and more ominously to prolong or recreate the desired manic phase of the bipolar disorder (59 R 917).⁷ In short, Orme's mood swings were due to it than his cocaine addiction (60 R 924).

Drs. Gregory Prichard and Harry McClaren testified for the State. Dr. Prichard concluded that in addition to the polysubstance abuse, Orme also suffered from a depressive disorder not otherwise specified and a personality disorder not otherwise specified (60 R 1014). He specifically rejected the bipolar diagnosis because "the expectation would be if somebody has a bipolar disorder what we expect to see during some period, any period during the two weeks that the oil fields followed by a week off for a number of years, we would expect to see is some manifestation of symptoms . . . this is a twelve year period where we see no reference to any kind of work trouble related to any kind of mental illness." (60 R 1022) He acknowledged that Orme had several periods of hyper activity, but attributed them to his drug abuse (60 R 1016-17). He rejected a 1992 bipolar

⁷ Dr. Herkov admitted that features of cocaine intoxication "look a lot like" bipolar disorder (60 R 921).

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