IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-182

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Orme points to two places in the record that support a finding that Orme was remorseful. First, Orme claims his statement to the police exhibited remorse. In that statement, Orme told the police "No, I don't think I hurt her... I mean if I got into a drug craze and hurt her or killed her, then I would admit to it and suffer the consequences.... Because I've know her for 12 years. I used to carry her little boy around when he was two years old and that's why I can't sleep... But I still feel it's partially my fault because she would not have been there in the first place if I hadn't called her." (IB 28). Orme also

points to the <u>Spencer</u> hearing when he expressed sorrow and regret for his actions. (IB 28).

This claim may be denied for three reasons. Orme also did not preserve, for appeal, his claim the trial judge failed to address this matter in her sentencing order.⁴

After the jury had recommended Orme be sentenced to death by a vote of 11-1, the defense submitted a sentencing memorandum to the trial judge. (2PP Vol. XVII 2956-2958). Orme did not present remorse as a non-statutory mitigator. Subsequent to the Spencer hearing, however, Orme filed a supplemental sentencing memorandum. In the memo, Orme argued he was remorseful and had accepted responsibility for what he had done. (2PP Vol. XVII 2965-2966).

On July 23, 2007, the trial court sentenced Orme to death. The trial judge addressed each of the mitigators suggested by Orme in his initial sentencing memorandum but made no mention of remorse in her sentencing order. (2PP Vol. XVII 3008-3019).

⁴ Orme also waived his right to have the jury consider Orme's genuine remorse when he waived his right to testify before the jury. The trial judge questioned Orme about his decision. The court pointed out that in Orme's first trial, he testified on the issue of his remorsefulness. The court told Orme that if he did not testify he was giving up his right to express remorse before the jury. Orme told the trial court that he understood, had consulted with his attorney about the decision, and did not wish to testify. The trial court informed Orme that by not testifying, he was waiving his right to present remorse to the jury as a mitigating factor. Orme told the court he understood and did not wish to testify. (2PP Vol. LXI 1169).

Orme filed a motion for new trial. (2PP Vol. XVII 3021-3022). Orme did not bring to the court's attention that it failed to address Orme's remorse, as a non-statutory mitigator or that it had overlooked the defendant's supplemental sentencing memorandum. (2PP Vol. XVII 3021-3022).

On January 11, 2008, a hearing was held on Orme's motion for new trial. Orme, once again, failed to raise any claim the trial court neglected to address an additional non-statutory aggravator that was presented in Orme's supplemental sentencing memorandum. (2PP Vol. LI). By failing to lodge any objection to the trial court's failure to address the additional mitigation offered in Orme's supplemental sentencing memorandum, Orme has waived this issue on appeal. See Blackwelder v. State, 851 So. 2d 650, 652 (Fla. 2003)(error in sentencing order not preserved because Blackwelder failed to object).

This claim may also be denied because neither of Orme's statements, to which he points in his initial brief, rise to the level of genuine remorse so as to require the trial court to consider Orme's remorse in statutory mitigation. As to the former statement, it almost shocks the conscience for Orme to suggest his statement to the police, in particular his

⁵ Requiring a defendant to point out this type of error in a motion for rehearing or motion for new trial promotes judicial economy and discourages "gotcha" tactics designed to delay the proceedings.

statement, "But I still feel it's partially my fault because she would not have been there in the first place if I hadn't called her," should be considered as remorse. (2PP Vol. LIII 173). Orme certainly did not, and may not still, grasp that it is not "partially [his] fault". It is entirely his fault. This Court should reject any notion Orme's statement to the police required the trial court to consider and give weight Orme's "remorse" in non-statutory mitigation.

As to his statement at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, this Court has held that a statement of sorrow and regret is entirely different from evidence of genuine remorse. <u>Beasley v. State</u>, 774 So. 2d 649, 672 (Fla. 2000). While Orme expressed some sorrow and regret at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, he did not ever admit he killed, raped, beat, and robbed Lisa Redd. He described his conduct as "the actions that occurred." (2PP Vol. XLIX 4740).

Orme did not even direct his first comments to Lisa Redd's family. Instead, Orme apologized, first, to his own family and apologized to his father who, in Orme's view, had been "villianized" during the proceedings. (2PP Vol. XLIX 4740). Given his lukewarm statement of regret, the trial judge would have been entitled to find that remorse had not been established or to give Orme's remorse no weight. Beasley v. State, 774 So. 2d at 672.

Finally, this Court may deny this claim because any error in the trial judge's failure to consider and weigh Orme's remorse is harmless. There is no reasonable doubt that, even if the trial court would have considered and given some weight to Orme's averred remorse, the trial court would have still imposed the death penalty. Thomas v. State, 693 So. 2d 951, 953 (Fla. (holding that the trial court's failure to evaluate 1997) mitigation evidence was error, but harmless because there was no reasonable doubt that the trial court would have imposed the death penalty in light of finding five aggravating circumstances).

In this case, the trial court found three aggravating circumstances, including that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. This Court has repeatedly held that HAC is one of the most serious aggravator in Florida's capital sentencing scheme. Offord v. State, 959 So. 2d 187, 191 (Fla. 2007); Douglas v. State, 878 So. 2d 1246, 1262 (Fla. 2004) (noting that HAC is "one of the most serious aggravators in the statutory sentencing scheme").

Weighed against these three serious aggravators, were three statutory mitigators to which the trial court gave little weight. Although the trial judge considered five non-statutory mitigators, at Orme's request, the court gave no weight to any of them. (2PP Vol. XVII 3005-3019). Given the statements to

which Orme claims show his "remorse" and given the trial court's findings in aggravation and mitigation, there is simply no doubt, let alone reasonable doubt, that even considering Orme's remorse in non-statutory mitigation, the trial judge would have still sentenced Orme to death. Deparvine v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S 784 (Fla. Sept. 29, 2008)(failure to give express consideration to Deparvine's depression in the sentencing order was harmless error in light of four aggravating circumstances, including CCP and prior violent felony, all of which were given great weight and five mitigating factors which were given little weight). See also Singleton v. State, 783 So. 2d 970, 977 (Fla. 2001) (holding that trial court's error in failing to address non-statutory mitigation was harmless because the mitigators would not outweigh the aggravation in the case); Bates v. State, 750 So. 2d 6, 13 (Fla. 1999) (holding trial court's failure to consider non-statutory mitigation constituted harmless error). Orme's claim should be denied.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW ORME TO INQUIRE OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHETHER THEY COULD CONSIDER RECOMMENDING A LIFE SENTENCE AS A MATTER OF MERCY EVEN THOUGH THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OUTWEIGHED THE MITIGATION (RESTATED)

In this claim, Orme alleges the trial court erred in refusing to allow trial counsel to ask prospective jurors whether they could consider mercy in making their sentencing recommendation to the trial judge. The standard of review is an abuse of discretion. Perry v. State, 801 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 2001)(scope of voir dire questioning rests in the sound discretion of the court and will not be interfered with unless that discretion is clearly abused).

The issue arose during the second day of voir dire when jurors were questioned during the first stage of jury selection.

⁶ Mercy in this context was not used as a euphemism for a life sentence. Instead, trial counsel used the term mercy in the context of jurors' willingness to factor in sympathy, compassion or forebearance for Orme into their deliberations.

⁷ Orme notes in his initial brief that the trial judge refused to grant a challenge for cause against Mr. Welch and Mr. Tallent because they would not consider mercy during his deliberations. (IB 30-31, n.10). Orme has not raised a claim on appeal that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant these two challenges for cause. Neither Mr. Welch nor Mr. Tallent were seated on Orme's jury. (2PP Vol. LII 12). Ms. Melvin, the other juror about whom Orme complains, also did not sit on Orme's jury. (2PP Vol. LII 12).

At the time, prospective jurors Welch, Herzog, and Smith were being questioned. (2PP Vol. XLV 4087, and 4094).8

Trial counsel questioned Mr. Welch, without objection from the State, on his views about mercy. Trial counsel engaged in the following colloquy with Mr. Welch:

<u>Trial Counsel</u>: How about your views on the subject, do you feel there is any point to a penalty trial?

<u>Mr. Welch</u>: Yes. There are circumstances that prevail. It's good to hear all the evidence put together and then make a sound decision.

<u>Trial Counsel</u>: Okay, do you feel that a decision like this should be based upon the facts and not have anything to do with mercy.

Mr. Welch: Facts.

Trial Counsel: Facts alone?

Mr. Welch: Facts alone.

<u>Trial Counsel</u>: All right. If the evidence in this case or the argument in this case involved appealing to you to at least consider the possibility of mercy, would that plea fall on deaf ears?

<u>Mr. Welch</u>: I would like to hear the evidence or statements concerning mercy before making a decision.

<u>Trial Counsel</u>: But aside from just the facts, the quality of mercy has no place in this proceeding as far as you are concerned.

Mr. Welch: Basically, yes.

(2PP Vol. XLV 4087-4088).

⁸ Up to this point in the voir dire process, trial counsel did not attempt to inquire about the concept of mercy although numerous prospective jurors had been questioned.

When the parties finished questioning the three prospective jurors present, trial counsel challenged Mr. Welch for cause solely on the grounds that he would not consider mercy. The trial court denied the challenge. The trial court also sustained the State's objection to trial counsel's attempt to ask another prospective juror from a different group of three, Ms. Margaret Melvin, whether she would consider mercy during her deliberations. (2PP Vol. XLV 4108).

On the afternoon of the same day, trial counsel asked the court to reconsider its ruling restricting counsel's ability to inquire about mercy. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4177) The prosecutor suggested the court permit questions about mercy when the second stage of voir dire began. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4177-4178).

During the second stage, both sides would question jurors with a view toward exercising peremptory challenges. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4177). The court ruled it would revisit the issue during the second part of voir dire when a larger group was questioned. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4178). The court noted that its ruling [prohibiting inquiry] was limited to challenges for cause. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4191).

⁹ Trial counsel requested a mistrial on the grounds that the trial judge restricted his questioning about mercy. The trial judge denied the motion. (2PP Vol. XLV 4109).

After the court made its ruling, the first stage of voir dire continued with another three prospective jurors. Despite the trial court's promise to re-visit the issue during the second phase of voir dire, trial counsel questioned these three prospective jurors about the concept of mercy. The State lodged no objection. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4200).

Mr. Stone asked prospective jurors Colson, Tallent, and Neiman whether they could entertain considerations of sympathy or mercy in the penalty phase of Orme's trial. Only prospective juror Tallent said he would not consider mercy. Trial counsel challenged Mr. Tallent for cause because he would not consider mercy. The trial court denied the challenge. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4202).

During the second stage of jury selection, prospective jurors who had passed through stage one were questioned. As promised, the trial judge allowed trial counsel to question prospective jurors about mercy. The first group consisted of twenty-one prospective jurors. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4255). Trial counsel asked, without objection, whether everyone present could exercise mercy if they felt it was appropriate. Every prospective juror raised their hands. (2PP Vol. XLVI 4360).

The second group consisted of fourteen prospective jurors.

Among those prospective jurors were Mr. Welch, Mr. Tallent, and

Ms. Melvin. (2PP Vol. XLVII 4380).

Mr. Stone asked all fourteen prospective jurors whether any of the prospective jurors could not consider mercy in coming to a decision as to the penalty in this case. A bit later, trial counsel asked prospective jurors whether they believed that mercy is a trait basic to all human beings. All fourteen agreed this was the case. (2PP Vol. XLVII 4487).

Trial counsel followed up by asking prospective jurors if there was anyone that would not be able to consider mercy in this case. No prospective juror said they would not be able to consider mercy. (2PP Vol. XLVII 4488).

On the last day of jury selection, trial counsel questioned the last fourteen prospective jurors during stage two of jury selection. (2PP Vol. XLVIII 4652, 4681-4698). Trial counsel did not inquire whether this group of fourteen would consider mercy during their deliberations. The trial court did not, however, put any limitation on his ability to do so. (2PP Vol. XLVIII 4681-4698).

This claim should be denied. First, and most obvious, is that while the court initially denied trial counsel the opportunity to question prospective jurors about mercy during the first stage of jury selection, the court allowed trial counsel to question jurors about their willingness to consider mercy during the second stage. It is axiomatic that a trial court does not err by refusing to allow a question to be asked

during voir dire if the court actually allows the question to be posed to the venire.

The court did not even err in temporarily denying counsel the opportunity to ask prospective jurors whether they could consider mercy. A juror is not subject to a challenge for cause is unwilling to consider mercy during his because he deliberations. As such, restricting trial counsel's ability to ask about the concept of mercy, during the first stage of jury selection, did not interfere with trial counsel's ability to exercise any valid challenge for cause. Davis v. State, 859 So. 2d 465, 473-474 (Fla. 2003)(a trial judge does not abuse his discretion in refusing to grant a challenge for cause against a juror solely on the grounds he would not consider mercy during his deliberations). See also Ibar v. State, 938 So. 2d 451, 473 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting a claim by a capital defendant that the trial court erred in limiting his ability to argue for mercy, a jury pardon, and discussing whether the jury had lingering doubt).

In any event, any error in temporarily restricting trial counsel's ability to inquire about mercy was harmless. Trial counsel was permitted ask prospective jurors whether they believed the death penalty should be reserved for the worst of the worst, to explore their views on the death penalty, and to inquire into their willingness to consider mitigating

circumstances such as drug and alcohol abuse, child abuse and neglect, intoxication at the time of the offense, mental health history, mental diseases and disorders, and a good record since the murder. (2PP Vol. XLIII 3816, 3834, 3860; 2PP Vol. XLIV 3880, 3886, 3901, 3902, 3959, 3977, 3994, 3996, 4040, 4041, 4131, 4152, 4153; 2PP Vol. XLVI 4213, 4234; 2PP Vol. XLVIII 4552-4553, 4612, 4629, 4688, 4690, 4696).

Because the trial court allowed trial counsel to fully explore jurors' willingness to consider all of the mitigation evidence that Orme would eventually present to his jury, any error in temporarily restricting Orme's ability to inquire about the concept of mercy, in the abstract, was harmless. This Court should deny Orme's second claim.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE VENIRE WHEN ONE PROSPECTIVE JUROR ASKED WHETHER ORME COULD BE ELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE AFTER TWENTY-FIVE YEARS (RESTATED)

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